UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-20-2016

Bills v. Bills Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42978

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Linell Bills brought this action against Jon Loren Bills for a disposition of assets and recompense for farm expenses.

During the course of the trial the assets of the ranch operation were divided and the judge ordered that Jon Loren Bills recompense Linell Bills for expenses to not include any depreciation expense. The judgment issued included the depreciation expense in the expenses to be recompensed in contradiction to the judge's decision.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

- 1) In the judge's decision of December 31, 2014, Finding of Fact 31(a), the judge stated that "depreciation expenses must be disregarded on each tax return as these expenses are not cash expenses and there was no specific agreement between the parties to include depreciation expenses in the calculation of net profit of the ranch operation."
- 2) In the judge's decision of December 31, 2014, Finding of Fact 38(b), the court used as the farm expenses the total expenses from the tax return without deducting depreciation pursuant to the December 31, 2014 decision.
- 3) In the judge's judgment of December 31, 2014, the judge again used the total expenses from the tax returns without deducting depreciation pursuant to the December 31, 2014 decision.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Jon Loren Bills, Appellant, brings only one issue on appeal. The issue is that the depreciation expenses should have been deducted from the total expenses before determining the amount to be recompensed and that the judgment should be lessened

by the amount of \$60,000.00 depreciation which was improperly included in the judgment.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Jon Loren Bills, Appellant, requests that each party pay their own attorney fees incurred in this appeal as the appeal arises from a arithmetical mistake by the district judge.

ARGUMENT

Now comes Appellant, Jon Loren Bills and appeals to this court for partial relief from the Judgment filed December 31, 2014, because of judicial mistake.

Jon Loren Bills requests that the judgment in case CV-2012-260 of December 31, 2014 be reduced from \$97,998.00 to \$37,998.00 for the reasons explained as follows.

In this court's Decision and Order of December 31, 2014 in Finding of Fact 31(a), this court stated that "Depreciation expenses must be disregarded on each tax return as these expenses are not cash expenses and there was no specific agreement between the parties to include depreciation expenses in the calculation of net profit of the ranch operation." See Attached Exhibit A.

In Finding of Fact 38(b), when the court determined the reimbursement for expenses improperly paid by Linell Bills, the court inadvertently included \$60,000.00 of depreciation expenses in the calculation. (Exhibit A). The court used the Farm Expenses numbers from Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit B from the Findings of Fact without deducting the listed depreciation expense. (See attached Exhibit B). Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit 305 shows Form 4835 from Linell Bills' 2008 tax return. The total farm expenses

listed on line 31 are \$24,637.45 but on line 12 the court will see that included in that amount was \$20,000.00 in depreciation. (See attached Exhibit C). This is reflected in Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit B with the separate line indicating the depreciation.

In Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit 306, again Form 4835 from Linell Bills' 2009 tax return, the same situation exists. The total farm expenses on line 31 are \$21,098.66 and on line 12 is indicated \$20,000.00 of depreciation that was included in the total. This is also indicated on Respondent's Exhibit B. (See attached Exhibit D).

And, again, in Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit 307, Form 4835 from Linell Bills' 2010 tax return, the total expenses listed on line 31 are \$27,040.00. (See attached Exhibit E). Line 12 indicates that \$20,000.00 in depreciation was included in this total. This is again reflected on Jon Loren Bills' Exhibit B.

CONCLUSION

In the interest of justice, Jon Loren Bills requests that this court issue an order reducing the monetary amount in Item 2 of the Judgment from \$97,998.00 to \$37,998.00, to reflect that in accordance with the court's Decision and Order of December 31, 2014 stating that 'Depreciation expenses must be disregarded on each tax return" the depreciation amount of \$60,000.00 included in the calculation of this amount be deducted from the judgment. (Judgment attached as Exhibit F).