# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-18-2016

## Bills v. Bills Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42978

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Linell Bills ("Linell") disputes Jon Loren Bills' ("Loren") Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts which are not supported by the Record.

Beginning in 2003, shortly after the passing of her husband, Linell operated a ranch with her son, Loren. In 2011, Loren abandoned the operation. After several unsuccessful attempts to divide the cattle and other assets with Loren, Linell instituted an action in equity for an accounting and to wind up of the joint venture.

Loren countersued alleging breach of contract and seeking damages from Linell. Linell responded with a second claim in equity asserting unjust enrichment.

A jury found in favor of Linell as to Loren's claims for breach of contract. The Court then issued its Decision and Order and Judgment, distributing the assets. Linell was found to be the prevailing party and was awarded attorney's fees incurred defending against Loren's counterclaim.

### <u>ADDITIONAL ISSUES ON APPEAL</u>

Linell seeks recovery of her attorneys' fees incurred responding to Loren's appeal pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-120(3).

#### ARGUMENT

## A. Loren has Waived the Only Issue He Raises on Appeal.

Loren raises only one issue on appeal, apparently to address whether the court should have considered certain expenses in winding up the joint venture. However, Linell cannot fairly respond because Loren has provided no citations to the Record and relies on information which is not in the Record.

Loren has elected to proceed *pro se* on his appeal. As such, he is held 1-Respondent's Brief

"to the same standards and rules as those litigants represented by an attorney." Clark v. Cry Baby Foods, LLC, 155 Idaho 182, 185, 307 P.3d 1208, 1211 (2013). Pro se litigants, like all other litigants, must comply with the Idaho Appellate Rules and standards of appellate practice.

Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Butcher, 338 P.3d 556, 559-60 (Idaho 2014), reh'g denied (Dec. 12, 2014).

The Idaho Appellate Rules require that Loren present his argument "with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the transcript and record relied upon." I.A.R. Rule 35(6). However, Loren's argument offers no citations whatsoever. "[A]n assignment of error is too indefinite on appeal if 'an appellant fails to assert his assignments of error with particularity and to support his position with sufficient authority." Fed. Home Loan Mortg. Corp. v. Butcher, 338 P.3d 556, 560 (Idaho 2014), reh'g denied (Dec. 12, 2014) quoting Bach v. Bagley, 148 Idaho 784, 790, 229 P.3d 1146, 1152 (2010).

This Court has stated repeatedly that it will not "search the record on appeal for unspecified error." Bach v. Bagley, 229 P.3d 1146, 1152 (Idaho 2010) (citation omitted). Nor should Respondent be expected to do the same. Without relevant argument and authority, this Court has stated it will not consider the appellant's claim. See e.g. id. (citation omitted).

Rather than appropriate citations, Loren has simply attached documents to his brief. The documents attached are not documents from the Record, as they appear to contain Loren's handwritten annotations. However, this Court is "bound by the record and cannot consider matters or materials not part of or contained therein." *Mc Lean v. Cheyovich Fam. Trust*, 283 P.3d 742, 747-48 (Idaho 2012) quoting *State ex rel. Ohman v. Ivan H. Talbot Family Trust*, 120 Idaho 825, 827, 820 P.2d 695, 697 (1991). Items attached to a party's opening

brief are not part of the record and cannot be considered. Kootenai County v. Harriman-Sayler, 293 P.3d 637, 640 (Idaho 2012). See also McLean v. Cheyovich Family Trust, 153 Idaho 425, 430–31, 283 P.3d 742, 747–48 (2012); Goodman Oil Co. v. Scotty's Duro-Bilt Generator, Inc., 147 Idaho 56, 59, 205 P.3d 1192, 1195 (2009).

As a result of the preceding, this Court is left with a "general attack on the findings and conclusions of the district court, without specific reference to evidentiary or legal errors [which] is insufficient to preserve an issue." *Bach*, 148 Idaho at 790, 229 P.3d at 1152 (citation omitted). Consequently, that issue is waived. See *Suitts v. Nix*, 141 Idaho 706, 708, 117 P.3d 120, 122 (2005); *Bach*, 229 P.3d at 1152 (Idaho 2010).

Having preserved no issue, Loren's appeal must be dismissed.

B. Linell Is Entitled To An Award Of Attorneys' Fees On Appeal Because A Commercial Transaction Was The Gravamen Of The Claims, including the Claim Raised by Loren on Appeal.

The District Court found Linell to be the prevailing party. If Loren's appeal is dismissed, Linell is entitled to attorneys' fees on appeal.<sup>2</sup>

Idaho Code § 12-120(3) mandates the recovery of attorney's fees "in any commercial transaction." See Idaho Code §12-120(3). "[W]hether a party can recover attorney fees under Idaho Code section 12–120(3) depends on whether the gravamen of a claim is a commercial

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> There appears to be at least one instance in which Loren argues from a document that does not exist in the Record. The Court's Decision and Order incorporates by reference a portion of Loren's "post-trial brief" R. p. 231 paragraph 38(a)(i). However, this pleading was never made part of the Record.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Linell recognizes that the District Court awarded Linell attorney's fees only as it relates to the counterclaim brought by Loren. See R. p. 239 paragraph 17 Linell specifically chose not to appeal this issue. However, for the reasons stated herein, Linell is entitled to recovery of attorneys' fees incurred on this appeal.

transaction." Sims v. Jacobson, 342 P.3d 907, 912 (Idaho 2015) quoting Great Plains Equip., Inc. v. Nw. Pipeline Corp., 136 Idaho 466, 472, 36 P.3d 218, 224 (2001).

"A gravamen is "the material or significant part of a grievance or complaint." Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 509 (10th ed.1993). To determine whether the significant part of a claim is a commercial transaction, the court must analyze whether a commercial transaction (1) is integral to the claim and (2) constitutes the basis of the party's theory of recovery on that claim (citation omitted).

Id.

In this matter, all claims arose directly out of the operation or winding down of the joint venture between the parties. As such, the joint venture was both integral to and the basis for, all claims at issue in this matter. It was clearly the "gravamen" of the dispute. Given that "[t]he term 'commercial transaction' is defined to mean all transactions except transactions for personal or household purposes," there is no reasonable question that the joint venture was a commercial transaction under of Idaho Code Section 12-120(3). This does not change simply because the two parties to this commercial transaction were related.

Significantly, when claims, even in equity, are based on a commercial transaction, the prevailing party is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees for these claims as well. See *Sims*, 342 P.3d at 912 (addressing claim for quantum meruit). As such, Linell is entitled to an award of attorneys' fees incurred in this appeal. See e.g. I.A.R. 41(c).

### CONCLUSION

Loren brought this appeal but has failed to meet the minimum threshold to preserve the issue he sought to address. Not only has the Court made clear it will not consider an issue in this context, but Linell cannot be expected to substantively respond.

Linell respectfully requests that Lore's appeal be dismissed and that she be awarded her attorneys' fees incurred in this appeal, pursuant to Idaho Code 12-120(3).